



Effect of different drying methods on antioxidant activity of star fruits (*Averrhoa carambola L.*)

Ruvini L^{1*}, Dissanayaka WMMM², Chathuni J³, Rizliya V³, Swarna W⁴ and Barana CJ⁵

¹Research Fellow, National Institute of Fundamental Studies, Hantana Road, Kandy, Sri Lanka

²Research Student, Department of Food Science, Faculty of Agriculture, University of Perdaeniya, Sri Lanka

³Research Assistant, National Institute of Fundamental Studies, Hantana Road, Kandy, Sri Lanka

⁴Department of Food Science and Technology, Faculty of Agriculture, University of Perdaeniya, Sri Lanka

⁵Senior Lecturer, Department of Animal Science, Faculty of Agriculture, University of Perdaeniya, Sri Lanka

*Corresponding Author: Ruvini L, Research Fellow, National Institute of Fundamental Studies, Hantana Road, Kandy, Sri Lanka, Tel: +94 812 232 002, Fax: +94 812 232 131, E-mail: ruvini@ifs.ac.lk

Citation: Ruvini L, Dissanayaka WMMM, Chathuni J, Rizliya V, Swarna W, et al (2017) Effect of different drying methods on antioxidant activity of star fruits (*Averrhoa carambola L.*). J Nutr Diet Suppl 1(1): 101

Abstract

Star fruit (*Averrhoa carambola L.*) is a highly perishable seasonal fruit with a high level of antioxidants giving protection from many non-communicable diseases. In this study, the effect of dehydration, oven-drying and sun-drying on antioxidant activity, total phenolic content and ascorbic acid content was evaluated in two star fruit (*Averrhoa carambola*) cultivars; Honey sweet and Arkin grown in Sri Lanka. Antioxidant activity, total phenolic content (TPC) and ascorbic acid content were analysed by 1, 1-diphenyl-2-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) radical scavenging activity method, Folin-Ciocalteu's method and 2, 6-dichloroindophenol (DCP) dye method, respectively. Antioxidant activity in dehydrated Honey sweet and Arkin samples was not significantly different compared to the fresh fruit samples from both cultivars. Dehydrated samples from both cultivars had significantly higher ($P < 0.005$) antioxidant activity and ascorbic acid content compared to the sun dried and oven dried samples. Sundried samples from both cultivars had lowest phenol content compared to other samples. The results indicate dehydration is the best amongst evaluated drying methods to preserve antioxidant activity and ascorbic acid content in star fruits.

Keywords: *Averrhoa carambola*, antioxidants, dehydration, Sri Lanka

Introduction

Star fruit (*Averrhoa carambola L.*) is a nutrient-rich tropical fruit native to Sri Lanka, Indonesia and India [1,2]. This fruit has received increased interest worldwide due to its nutritional composition and the presence of biologically active compounds that provide health benefits and reduce the risk of certain diseases [3,4]. It possesses a high amount of natural antioxidants, including polyphenols and ascorbic acid [5,6]. Phenolic compounds were found to be the major antioxidants in star fruit. It is proven that consumption of fruits rich in natural antioxidants reduces the risk of chronic diseases such as cancer, cardiovascular diseases, brain and immune dysfunction [7,8]. The rising market for nutraceuticals and functional foods has significantly increased the focus on natural sources of antioxidants and their potential for nutraceuticals and functional foods [9]. The star fruit is usually consumed fresh or made into fruit juice or juice drinks. However, the star fruit is reported as one of the underutilised tropical fruits [10].

The ripe star fruit has digestive and biliousness properties. Preliminary phytochemical analysis has indicated the presence of saponins, tannins, alkaloids and flavonoids. It is also a good source of vitamin C and is used to treat headache, vomiting, cough, hangovers, and eczemas [11]. Furthermore, it is used as an appetite stimulant, diuretic, anti-diarrheal, and febrifugal agent. Insoluble fiber-rich fractions derived from *A. carambola* fruit have shown in vitro hypoglycemic effects [12]. Fresh fruits including carambola are highly perishable and bulky commodities as they contain more than 80% of moisture. Therefore drying is used as a widespread and economical fruit preservation method [13]. Also, dried fruits are widely used in confectionery, baking and sweet industries. Drying is an important food-processing technique and is one of the oldest methods of food processing. In developing countries, it is possible to practice methods such as sun drying, oven drying and dehydration as they are cost-effective [14].

It is evident that the composition and activity of some antioxidants of the fruits are affected by drying. The main objective of this study was to evaluate the effect of different drying methods on selected antioxidant related parameters (total phenols, ascorbic acid content) and antioxidant activity of two cultivars of *A. carambola*; Arkin and Honey sweet grown in Sri Lanka.

Materials

Chemicals

Folin-Ciocalteu's phenol reagent, 2,2-Diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl Diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH), gallic acid, ascorbic acid, methanol, 2,6-Dichlorophenolindophenol (DCP) dye solution, metaphosphoric acid and sodium carbonate were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich, USA. All chemicals used were of analytical grade.

Fruit Samples

Fresh and healthy *A. carambola* fruits were selected from two cultivars, Arkin and Honey sweet, two cultivars recommended by Department of Agriculture Sri Lanka. Fresh fruits were harvested from orchards of Department of Agriculture, Sri Lanka. In order to ensure the homogeneity, randomly selected fresh and healthy fruits were washed thoroughly under running tap water followed by distilled water to remove surface foreign materials. The cleaned fruits were cut into 0.5 cm thickness along the horizontal axis and homogenised. Three replicates were maintained.

Methods

Drying Methods

Dehydration, oven drying and sun drying were applied in this experiment to compare the effects of each drying process on antioxidant activity, phenolic content and ascorbic acid content. Prepared fruit samples were subjected to dehydration, oven drying and sun drying until moisture content reached 10%. In dehydration, samples were placed on the trays of the dehydrator (Laboratory model dehydrator, Japan) in a single layer at 65°C and 60 m³s⁻¹ air flow rate for 4 hours. In oven drying, samples were placed on a mesh in a single layer and dried at 65°C for 4.5 hours (Shibata, SPF-600, Japan) at a constant air velocity(0.6m/s). In sun drying samples were arranged on a mesh in a single layer and kept under direct sunlight for two days. Each drying method was replicated three times for each variety.

Determination of Ascorbic Acid Content

The analysis of ascorbic acid content in the samples was done according to the method given in Association of Official Analytical Chemists [15]. Solutions of 2, 6 Dichlorophenolindophenol (DCP) dye, 2.5% metaphosphoric solution and the standard ascorbic acid solution was prepared. The dye solution was standardised. Accurately weighed 5 g of the sample was macerated using mortar and pestle with a little amount of 2.5% metaphosphoric acid solution, filtered into a 50 ml volumetric flask through a muslin cloth and made up to the volume with 2.5% metaphosphoric acid. A volume of 10 ml of the sample was pipetted out and placed in a conical flask. The solution was titrated with the dye solution until a pink colour appears. The ascorbic acid content of the sample was calculated. Six replicates were maintained.

Determination of Antioxidant Activity

Antioxidant activity was measured by DPPH radical scavenging activity method ~~according to the assay previously described~~ with few modifications [16]. The samples were extracted with 70% methanol. ~~The dilution series were prepared by adding 70% methanol and DPPH solution (0.004%) to the sample. Mixtures were vortexed for 1 minute and were kept at room temperature for 30 minutes for incubation. After developing the colour of the samples~~ the absorbance was measured at 512 nm ~~wavelength~~ using a UV- visible spectrophotometer (UV-VIS 2460, Shimadzu, Kyoto, Japan). The ~~inhibition~~ concentration of samples required to scavenge DPPH radical ~~by 50%~~ (IC₅₀) was obtained from a graph plot of percentage inhibitions and extract concentrations, using ascorbic acid as standard. Six replicates were maintained.

Determination of Total Phenolic Content

The total phenol content was determined by the previously reported Folin-Ciocalteu method with slight modifications [17]. The mean (±SD) results of quadruplicate analyses were expressed as mg of gallic acid equivalents per gram of sample (mg GAE/g). The calibration equation for gallic acid was $y=0.040x+0.159$ ($R^2=0.996$), where x is the gallic acid concentration in mg/g, and y is the absorbance reading at 765 nm on UV-visible spectrophotometer (UV-VIS 2460, Shimadzu, Kyoto, Japan). Six replicates were maintained.

Statistical Analysis

Data were analysed using the SAS statistical software version 9.1.3 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC). Results were calculated and expressed as mean \pm standard deviation (SD) of 3 independent analyses. P values of ≤ 0.05 were considered to be significant.

Results

Total Ascorbic Acid Content

Drying methods significantly reduced ($P < 0.05$) the ascorbic acid content of *A. carambola* extracts (Table 1). Dehydration method preserved the highest amount of ascorbic acid while sun-dried samples from both cultivars had the lowest ascorbic acid content and cultivar Arkin retained negligible amount of ascorbic acid.

Drying method	Honey sweet (mg/g)	Arkin (mg/g)
Fresh (control)	5.07 \pm 0.74 ^{A,a}	4.14 \pm 0.17 ^{A,a}
Dehydrated	2.45 \pm 0.05 ^{A,b}	2.38 \pm 0.11 ^{A,b}
Oven dried	0.65 \pm 0.05 ^{A,c}	0.60 \pm 0.08 ^{B,c}
Sun dried	0.29 \pm 0.01 ^{A,c}	0.02 \pm 0.05 ^{B,d}

Different letters of the upper index within a column and different letters of the lower index within a row indicate the significant difference at $P < 0.05$

Table 1: Total Ascorbic acid content of *A. carambola* fruit ethanol extracts from treatments (mg/g)

Total Phenolic Content

Table 2 shows the TPC of the 70% EtOH extracts from the different drying methods expressed as mg GAE/g of extract. According to the results, drying treatments had significant effects ($P < 0.05$) on the phenolic content of *A. carambola* extracts. In both the cultivars, the highest TPC was observed in the fresh sample followed by the oven-dried and dehydrated sample. However, dehydrated samples preserved significantly high ($P < 0.05$) phenolic content compared to sun-dried samples.

Drying method	Honey sweet (mg/g)	Arkin (mg/g)
Fresh (control)	24.92 \pm 0.98 ^{A,a}	21.97 \pm 0.98 ^{B,a}
Dehydrated	4.13 \pm 0.36 ^{A,b}	5.40 \pm 0.36 ^{B,c}
Oven dried	5.57 \pm 0.36 ^{A,b}	6.93 \pm 0.09 ^{B,b}
Sun dried	3.83 \pm 0.05 ^{A,c}	2.89 \pm 0.03 ^{B,d}

Different letters of the upper index within a column and different letters of lower index within a row indicate the significant difference at $P < 0.05$

Table 2: Total Phenolic Content of *A. carambola* fruit ethanol extracts from treatments (mg/g)

Total Antioxidant Activity

The antioxidant activities in terms of free radical scavenging activity of the 70% EtOH extracts of the dehydrated, oven-dried and sun-dried *A. carambola* fruit samples were evaluated using ascorbic acid as standard. According to the results, antioxidant activity in dehydrated Arkin and Honey sweet samples was not significantly different ($P < 0.05$) compared with fresh samples and possessed high antioxidant activity compared to other treatments (Table 3). Both oven-dried and sun-dried samples from both cultivars showed significantly low ($P < 0.05$) antioxidant activity compared to their respective fresh and dehydrated samples (Table 1). A poor correlation was observed between TPC and DPPH activity ($R^2 = 0.3$) while a moderately fair correlation was observed between TAC and DPPH activity ($R^2 = 0.5436$).

Drying method	Honey sweet [IC ₅₀ (ppm)]	Arkin [IC ₅₀ (ppm)]
Fresh (control)	178.89 \pm 5.43 ^{A,a}	164.87 \pm 8.37 ^{A,a}
Dehydrated	196.62 \pm 4.80 ^{A,a}	179.27 \pm 4.58 ^{B,a}
Oven dried	312.27 \pm 3.88 ^{A,b}	210.77 \pm 5.87 ^{B,b}
Sun dried	483.93 \pm 9.43 ^{A,c}	395.26 \pm 17.25 ^{B,c}

Different letters of the upper index within a column and different letters of the lower index within a row indicate the significant difference at $P < 0.05$

Table 3: Antioxidant of *A. carambola* fruit ethanol extracts from treatments (ppm)

Discussion

In the present study, the effect of different drying methods on the ascorbic acid content, antioxidant activity and TPC of *A. carambola* fruit was studied. According to the results, drying significantly decreased the ascorbic acid content of the fruit samples. This observation is in agreement with previous findings showing that increasing drying air temperature causes more loss in vitamin C in the dried fruits [18,20]. Vitamin C losses can be due to enzymatic and chemical degradation, heating, or leaching [21]. Drying processes have been reported to have a very unfavourable effect on the retention of ascorbic acid [22]. Recently, Demiray., *et al.* studied the kinetics of degradation of lycopene, β -carotene and ascorbic acid in tomato during hot air drying and suggested the drying temperature should be less than 70°C to preserve the ascorbic acid at maximum extent [23]. In vegetables, when cell disruption occurs, L-ascorbic acid is oxidised to form dehydroascorbic acid through enzymatic reactions. So the significantly low ascorbic acid content in sun-dried samples may be due to prolonged exposure to these enzymes.

~~In the present study,~~ the antioxidant activity of the extracts was evaluated using the DPPH assay. The DPPH free radical is a stable free radical, which has been widely accepted as a tool for estimating the free radical-scavenging activity of antioxidants [24]. The IC₅₀ value is the amount of antioxidant material required to scavenge 50% of free radical in the assay system. Therefore, lower the IC₅₀ value, higher is the antioxidant activity. The IC₅₀ values obtained through different drying methods were in the order of sun drying > oven drying > dehydration > fresh sample, suggesting that the method of drying could significantly enhance the antioxidant activity of *A. carambola* fruit samples (P<0.05). Sun-dried samples from both cultivars showed lowest antioxidant activity compared to other treatments (P<0.05) and are in agreement with previous findings for button mushroom fruit bodies [25]. During hot-air drying, thermal degradation of polyphenols is expected. But the decomposition of polyphenols is proven to be dependent on the type of food matrix and processing conditions. Drying process enhances or depletes the antioxidant activity of fruits and vegetables depending on the nature of the substrate [26]. The negative effect of temperature on antioxidant activity could be ascribed to its depleting effect on ascorbic acid and polyphenol contents. Polyphenols undergo thermal degradation upon hot-air drying and thermal degradation of polyphenols may partially result from oxidation due to activation of enzymes such as polyphenol oxidase and peroxidase [26,27]. Therefore, the low antioxidant activity in sun-dried samples might have been caused by exposure to these enzymatic processes for a long time [28]. The effect of antioxidants on DPPH radical scavenging is thought to result from their hydrogen donating ability [29]. Thus the high DPPH scavenging activity exerted by dehydrated samples can be due to the formation of compounds having powerful hydrogen donating ability [28].

As observed for ascorbic acid content and antioxidant activity, dehydrated samples retained highest phenolic content compared to oven-dried and sun-dried samples. Sun drying was the least preferred drying method when the phenolic content was considered and agreed with previous findings [30,32]. Okuda., *et al.* have mentioned that rosmarinic acid was degraded when it is dried under direct sunlight, and in the oven at 60 and 80 °C and Mueller-Harvey has reported that some phenolic compounds decompose rapidly in direct sunlight [33,34]. Recent works also demonstrated that the temperature affects the stability of phenolic compounds in herbal infusions [35].

In a study done by Zhang., *et al.* the freeze-drying method was reported to show the highest TPC in *Lentinus edodes*, followed by fresh, oven-drying, microwave-drying and sun-drying [28]. The decrease in both TPC and antioxidant activity of the extracts during the process of drying could be attributed to the degradation of heat-sensitive phenolic compounds. Besides, activation of oxidative enzymes (polyphenol oxidase and peroxidase) during drying process may lead to the loss of phenolic complexes [24]. According to Toor and Savage, changes in chemical structure of phenols, such as binding of phenols to proteins could also result in a loss of phenolic content [22]. For the sun-drying method, loss of TPC may be caused due to delayed deactivation of degradative enzymes such as phenolic oxidases, which are able to degrade phenolic compounds before the fruit is completely dry [28]. There was a significant difference in the TPC content of dehydrated and oven-dried samples even though the heating temperature was same. The same observation was seen in a study done by Saini., *et al.* on *Moringa oleifera* leaves, where the oven-dried sample significantly retained more TPC than the cabinet tray dried sample [36]. Anyhow, as in our study, the DPPH radical scavenging activity was higher for cabinet tray drying than oven drying.

A. carambola fruits are a rich source of natural antioxidants and polyphenolics are its main antioxidants [3]. In a study done by Khanam., *et al.* various phenolic acids and flavonoids were found in both aqueous and ethanol extracts of *A. carambola* [37]. Among all the tested flavonoids, quercetin was observed in the highest amount followed by kaempferol, luteolin, naringenin and apigenin in aqueous extract and luteolin was detected in greater percentage as compared to kaempferol, naringenin, myricetin and quercetin in the ethanolic extract. In addition, gallic acid and

vanillic acid were the abundant phenolic acids in *A. carambola*. Larrauri., et al. reported that phenolic antioxidants are not significantly affected when dried at 60 °C although, loss of phenols was higher when drying at 100 and 140 °C [38]. In a study done by Elhamirad and Zamanipoor, quercetin and ellagic acid had the highest thermal stability followed by catechin, tannic acid, caffeic acid and gallic acid [39]. Anyhow, it should be noted that the temperature considered in this study was above 120 °C and the drying temperature in our study was only 65 °C. Some antioxidant compounds like ascorbic acid and carotenoids are very sensitive to heat and storage and are lost during different vegetable processing steps. Ascorbic acid contributes to the total phenols as it is capable of reducing the active reagent used in the analysis of phenols. Hence, the reduction in TPC in dried samples may be mainly due to loss of ascorbic acid [40]. As a whole, among the two cultivars, Arkin retained more TPC and ascorbic acid and exhibited more antioxidant activity, indicating that Arkin can be used commercially for dehydration purposes.

Conclusion

Drying processes resulted in reduced ascorbic acid, TPC and antioxidant activity in *A. carambola* fruits. Sundried samples from both cultivars had lowest phenol content compared to other samples. The results indicate that dehydration is the best drying method and the cultivar Arkin is the best for dehydration purposes in terms of TPC, antioxidant activity, and ascorbic acid content.

Acknowledgement

This research was funded by the National Institute of Fundamental Studies, Kandy, Sri Lanka. The authors wish to thank ~~all the staff members of~~ National Institute of Fundamental Studies, Hantana, Kandy and Department of Food Science and Technology, Faculty of Agriculture, University of Peradeniya for ~~their invaluable~~ technical assistance.

References

- Manda H, Vyas K, Pandya A, Singhal SA (2012) Complete review on: *Averrhoa carambola*. WJPPS 1: 17-33.
- Muthu N, Lee SY, Phua KK, Bhore SJ (2016) Nutritional, Medicinal and Toxicological Attributes of Star-Fruits (*Averrhoa carambola* L.) A Review. Bioinformation 12: 420-4.
- Shui G, Leong LP (2006) Residue from Star Fruit as Valuable Source for Functional Food Ingredients and Antioxidant Nutraceuticals. Food Chem 97: 277-84.
- Wakte SR, Patil DA (2011) Antimicrobial and Antioxidant Activity of *Averrhoa carambola* L. Fruit at Various Stages of Ripening. J Herb Med 5: 121-9.
- Yan SW, Ramasamy R, Alitheen NBM, Rahmat A (2013) A Comparative Assessment of Nutritional Composition, Total Phenolic, Total Flavonoid, Antioxidant Capacity, and Antioxidant Vitamins of Two Types of Malaysian Underutilized Fruits (*Averrhoa Bilimbi* and *Averrhoa Carambola*). Int J Food prop: 16.
- Lim YS, Lee ST (2013) In Vitro Antioxidant Capacities of Star Fruit (*Averrhoa carambola*), an Underutilized Tropical Fruit. J Biol 1: 21-4.
- Gupta D, Mann S, Jain I, Gupta RK (2011) Phytochemical, Nutritional and Antioxidant Activity Evaluation of Fruits of *Ziziphus nummularia* Burm F. Int J Pharm Biol Sci 2: 629-38.
- Avinash P, Swapneel K, Darshana P, Anita P (2012) Comprehensive Review of an Important Medicinal Plant – *Averrhoa carambola* L. Phcog Commn 2: 13-7.
- Shui G, Leong LP, Wong SP (2005) Rapid Screening and Characterization of Antioxidants of *Cosmos caudatus* Using Liquid Chromatography Coupled with Mass Spectrometry. J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci 15: 127-38.
- Das S (2012) Antimicrobial and Antioxidant Activities of Green and Ripe Fruits of *Averrhoa carambola* linn and *Zizyphus mauritiana* lam. Asian J Pharm Clin Res 5: 102-5.
- Carolino ROG, Belebani RO, Pizzo AB, Vecchio FD, Garcia-Cairasco N, et al. (2005) Convulsant Activity and Neurochemical Alterations Induced by a Fraction Obtained From Fruit *Averrhoa carambola* (Oxalidaceae: Geraniales). Neurochem Int 46: 523-31.
- Chau CF, Chen CH, Lin CY (2004) Insoluble Fiber-Rich Fractions Derived from *Averrhoa carambola*: Hypoglycemic Effects Determined by In Vitro Methods. Food Sci Technol 37: 331-5.
- Sagar VR, Kumar SP (2010) Recent Advances in Drying and Dehydration of Fruits and Vegetables. J Food Sci Technol 47: 15-26.
- Wakjira M (2010) Solar Drying of Fruits and Windows of Opportunities in Ethiopia. Afr J Food Sci 4: 790-802.
- Official Methods of Analysis of the Association of Official Analytical Chemists. (19th ed.), AOAC, Arlington.
- Pyrzynska K, Pękal A (2013) Application of Free Radical Diphenylpicrylhydrazyl (DPPH) to Estimate the Antioxidant Capacity of Food Samples. Anal Methods 5: 4288-95.
- Koh E, Wimalasiri KMS, Chassy AW, Mitchell AE (2009) Content of Ascorbic Acid, Quercetin, Kaempferol and Total Phenolics in Commercial Broccoli. J Food Comp Anal 22: 637-43.
- Oshodi AA (1992) Comparison of Proteins, Minerals and Vitamin C Content of Some Dried Leafy Vegetable. Pak J Sci Ind Res 35: 267-9.
- Ejoh AR, Tanya AN, Djuikwo NV, Mbofung CM (2005) Effect of Processing and Preservation Methods on Vitamin C and Total Carotenoid Levels of Some *Vernonia* (bitter leaf) Species. Afr J Food Agric Nutr Dev 5: 105-17.

20. Ahmet K, Aydın O, Kolaylı S (2010) Effect of Different Drying Conditions on the Vitamin C (ascorbic acid) Content of Hayward Kiwifruits (*Actinidia deliciosa* Planch). *FBP* 88: 165-73.
21. Wawire M, Oey I, Mathooko F, Njoroge C, Shitanda D, et al. (2011) Thermal Stability of Ascorbic Acid and Ascorbic Acid Oxidase in African Cowpea Leaves (*Vigna unguiculata*) of Different Maturities. *J Agric Food chem* 59: 1774-83.
22. Toor RK, Savage GP (2006) Effect of Semi-Drying on the Antioxidant Components of Tomatoes. *Food Chem* 94: 90-7.
23. Demiray E, Tulek Y, Yilmaz Y (2013) Degradation Kinetics of Lycopene, β -Carotene and Ascorbic Acid in Tomatoes During Hot Air Drying. *Lwt-Food Sci Technol* 50: 172-6.
24. An K, Zhao D, Wang Z, Wu J, Xu Y, et al. (2016) Comparison of Different Drying Methods on Chinese Ginger (*Zingiber Officinale* Roscoe): Changes in Volatiles, Chemical Profile, Antioxidant Properties, and Microstructure. *Food Chem* 19: 1292-300.
25. Nivas MD, Gaikwad DK, Chavan PD (2011) Antioxidant Potential of *Morinda pubescens* Fruits. *J Pharm Res* 4: 829-31.
26. Mrkic V, Cocci E, Rosa MD, Sacchetti G (2006) Effect of Drying Conditions on Bioactive Compounds and Antioxidant Activity of Broccoli (*Brassica oleracea* L.). *J Sci Food Agric* 86: 1559-66.
27. Fu HY (2004) Free Radical Scavenging and Leukemia Cell Growth Inhibitory Properties of Onion Powders Treated by Different Heating Processes. *J Food Sci* 69: 50-4.
28. Zhang Z, Lv G, Pan H, Wu Y, Fan L (2009) Effects of Different Drying Methods and Extraction Condition on Antioxidant Properties of Shiitake (*Lentinus edodes*). *Food Sci Technol Res* 15: 547-52.
29. Ben-Saad A, Dalel B, Rjeibi I, Smida A, Ncib S, et al. (2017) Phytochemical, Antioxidant and Protective Effect of Cactus *Cladodes* Extract Against Lithium-Induced Liver Injury in Rats. *Pharm Biol* 55: 516-25.
30. Ponmari G, Sathiskumar R, Lakshmi PTV (2011) Effect of Drying Treatment on The Contents of Antioxidants in *Cardiospermum halicacabum* Linn. *Int J Pharm Bio Sci* 2: 1-10.
31. Hongfang J, Ailin D, Lingwen Z, Shuang L, Mingduo Y, et al. (2012) Effects of Drying Methods on Antioxidant Properties and Phenolic Content in White Button Mushroom. *Int J Food Sci* 8: 2.
32. Anides AO, Goulas V, Gekas V (2013) Effect of Drying Method on the Phenolic Content and Antioxidant Capacity of Spearmint. *Chez J Food Sci* 31: 509-13.
33. Okuda T, Yoshida T, Hatano T (1989) New Methods of Analyzing Tannins. *J Nat Prod* 52: 1-31.
34. Mueller-Harvey I (2001) Analysis of Hydrolysable Tannins. *Anim Feed Sci Technol* 91: 3-20.
35. Riehle P, Vollmer M, Rohn S (2013) Phenolic Compounds in *Cistus incanus* Herbal Infusions – Antioxidant Capacity and Thermal Stability During Brewing Process. *Food Res. Int* 53: 891-9.
36. Saini RK, Shetty NP, Prakash M, Giridhar P (2014) Effect of Dehydration Methods on Retention of Carotenoids, Tocopherols, Ascorbic Acid and Antioxidant Activity in *Moringa oleifera* Leaves and Preparation of a RTE Product. *J Food Technol* 51: 2176-82.
37. Khanam Z, Sam KH, Zakaria NHB, Ching CH, Bhat IUH (2015) Determination of Polyphenolic Content, HPLC Analyses and DNA Cleavage Activity of Malaysian *Averrhoa carambola* L Fruit extracts. *J King Saud Univ Sci* 27: 331-7.
38. Larrauri JA, Rupérez P, Saura-Calixto F (1997) Effect of Drying Temperature on the Stability of Polyphenols and Antioxidant Activity of Red Grape Pomace Peels. *J Agr Food Chem* 45: 1390-3.
39. Elhamirad AH, Zamanipoor MH (2012) Thermal Stability of Some Flavonoids and Phenolic Acids in Sheep Tallow Olein. *Eur J Lipid Sci Tech* 114: 602-6.
40. Chipurura B, Muchuweti M, Manditseraa F (2010) Effects of Thermal Treatment on The Phenolic Content and Antioxidant Activity of Some Vegetables. *Asia J Clin Nutr* 2: 93-100.